
TULIA CITY COUNCIL  
TUESDAY FEBRUARY 13, 2024 

AT 6:00 P.M.  
TULIA CITY HALL, CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 

1. Call to Order and Quorum Call

_____ Dusty George, Mayor        ____ City Manager 

_____ Israel ‘Bibo’ Ramirez ____ City Secretary 

_____ Jay Smith ____ Finance Director 

_____ Jed Owens ____ City Attorney 

_____ Greg Needham ____ Public Works Director 

          ____ Chief of Police 

____ Electric Director 

2. Presentations and Public Comment (Public Comments is limited to 3 minutes per
speaker.)

3. Consider action on the Consent Agenda (usually approval of council meeting minutes
will be placed under consent agenda along with non-controversial items that may have
already been discussed or routinely handled in the past. This may include resolutions but
not ordinances. A council member may remove an item from the consent agenda and
place it on the Discussion and Action agenda before a vote on the Consent Agenda
items.)

• CONSIDER AND APPROVE MINUTES FROM THE NOVEMBER 14 AND
NOVEMBERR 27, 2023 MEETINGS

• POLICE CHIEF’S ANNUAL REPORT ON RACIAL PROFILING

4. Items for Discussion and Action

a. CONSIDER AND TAKE ACTION REGARDING CALL FOR ELECTION FOR
MAYOR,  DISTRICT III, AND DISTRICT IV

b. DISCUSSION ON MUTUAL OF UNDERSTANDING AGREEMENT
BETWEEN TULIA ISD AND THE CITY OF TULIA

c. BRIEFING, DISCUSSION AND ACTION ON ATMOS FRANCHISE
AGREEMENT



d. DISCUSSION WITH CITY ATTORNEY TO FINALIZE FOOD TRUCK 
ORDINANCE 
 

5. Announcements  
• TULIA POWER & LIGHT 
• PUBLIC WORKS 
• POLICE DEPT 
• CITY HALL 

 
6. Adjournment 

 
 
The City Council of the City of Tulia reserves the right to adjourn into executive session at any 
time during the course of this meeting to discuss any of the matters listed above, as authorized by 
Texas Government Code Section 551.071 (Consultation with Attorney), 551.072 (Deliberation 
about Real Property), 551.073 (Deliberation about Gifts and Donations), 551.074 (Personnel 
Matters), 551.076 (Deliberations about Security Devices), and 551.087 (Economic Development) 

This agenda was posted on or before February 9, 2024 by 5:00 p.m. 

_______________________________ 

 

 



STATE OF TEXAS  X 
 
COUNTY OF SWISHER X 
 
CITY OF TULIA  X 
 
 ON the 14th day of November, 2023, the City Council of the City of Tulia met in the City 
Council Chambers at 6:00 p.m.   
 
Present were:  Dusty George    Mayor 

Israel ‘Bibo’ Ramirez  Mayor ProTem  
Gregory Needham  Council Member 

   Jay Smith   Council Member 
Jed Owens   Council Member 
 

Also present were: BJ Potts   City Manager  
Kristina Solomon  City Secretary  

   Slater Elza   City Attorney     
Brian West   Electric Director  
 

Absent was:    Russell Proctor  Public Works Director 
Paul Brown    Chief of Police 
  
 

1. Call to Order and Quorum Call Work Session  
 

Dusty George called the meeting to order at 6:00 p.m. in the City Council Chambers. 
 

2. Presentations and Public Comment (Public Comment is limited to 3 minutes per 
speaker.) 

 
Donnie Randall spoke about his concerns on food trucks in town.  
 

3. Consider action on the Consent Agenda (usually approval of council meeting minutes 
will be placed under consent agenda along with non-controversial items that may have 
already been discussed or routinely handled in the past. This may include resolutions but 
not ordinances. A council member may remove an item from the consent agenda and 
place it on the Discussion and Action agenda before a vote on the Consent Agenda 
items.) 

 
• CONSIDER AND APPROVE MINUTES FROM THE OCTOBER 17, 2023 

MEETING 
 
Bibo Ramirez made a motion to approve the minutes as presented.  A second was made 
by Greg Needham and passed with a 5-0 vote.  



 
4. Items for Discussion and Action 

 
a. DISCUSS AND TAKE ACTION ON FUNDVIEW SOFTWARE 

PRESENTATION  
 
Zack Slaughter with Fundview gave a presentation on the software. He explained the 
differences between Fundview and Incode and how Fundview can simplify a lot of what 
the city is doing now.    
 
Greg Needham made a motion to proceed with changing from Incode to Fundview 
software.  A second was made by Jed Owens and passed with a 5-0 vote.  

 
b. DISCUSS AND TAKE ACTION DISMISSING CONTRACT AGREEMENT 

BETWEEN THE CITY OF TULIA AND TULIA CHAMBER OF COMMERCE 
 

It was decided at the last meeting to cancel the contract agreement between the City of 
Tulia and Tulia Chamber of Commerce.  The Chamber of Commerce will instead present 
to the council their requests as needed.  A vote was not taken at the time.   
 
Greg Needham made a motion to dismiss the contract agreement between the City of 
Tulia and Tulia Chamber of Commerce.  A second was made by Jay Smith and passed 
with a 5-0 vote.  
 

c. DISCUSS, CONSIDER, AND TAKE ACTION ON AN AGREEMENT FOR 
ELECTION ADMINISTRATION BETWEEN THE CITY OF TULIA AND 
SWISHER COUNTY 

 
The election agreement is an annual agreement between the City of Tulia and Swisher 
County 
 
Greg Needham made a motion to accept the agreement for election administration 
between the City of Tulia and Swisher County.  

 
5. Announcements  

 
• TULIA POWER & LIGHT 
• PUBLIC WORKS 
• POLICE DEPT 
• CITY HALL 

 
 
 
 



6. Adjournment 
 

With no further business to discuss the meeting was adjourned at 6:38 p.m. 
 
 
 
______________________________ 

      Mayor, Dusty George 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________            

 City Secretary, Kristina Solomon 

 
 



STATE OF TEXAS  X 
 
COUNTY OF SWISHER X 
 
CITY OF TULIA  X 
 
 ON the 27th day of November, 2023, the City Council of the City of Tulia met in special 
session in the City Council Chambers at 12:00 p.m.   
 
Present were:  Dusty George    Mayor 

Gregory Needham  Council Member 
   Jed Owens   Council Member 

 
Also present were: BJ Potts   City Manager  

Kristina Solomon  City Secretary  
   Russell Proctor  Public Works Director 
 
Absent was:    Israel ‘Bibo’ Ramirez  Mayor ProTem  

Jay Smith   Council Member 
Slater Elza   City Attorney     
Brian West   Electric Director  
Paul Brown    Chief of Police 
  
 

1. Call to Order and Quorum Call Work Session  
 

Dusty George called the meeting to order at 12:00 p.m. in the City Council Chambers. 
 

2. Presentations and Public Comment (Public Comment is limited to 3 minutes per 
speaker.) 
 
No comment at this time 
 

3. Items for Discussion and Action 
 

a. CONSIDER AND TAKE ACTION ON THE RECOMMENDATION OF THE 
PLANNING AND ZONING COMMITTEE TO CONSIDER THE 
APPLICATION OF ZONING 14.15 ACRES OF LAND SITUATED IN 
SECTION NO. 10, BLOCK W-1, ABSTRACT NO 1626.  THE ZONING 
WOULD ZONE THIS 14.15 TRACT FROM AGRICULTURE TO 
COMMERCIAL ZONED PROPERTY 

 
Greg Needham made a motion to approve the recommendation of the Planning and 
Zoning Committee to consider the application of zoning 14.15 acres of land situated in 
section No. 10, block w-1, abstract No. 1626.  The zoning would zone this 14.15 tract to 



commercial zoned property.  A second was made by Jed Owens and passed with a 3-0 
vote.  

 
4. Announcements  

 
5. Adjournment 

 
With no further business to discuss the meeting was adjourned at 12:05 p.m. 

 
 
 
______________________________ 

      Mayor, Dusty George 
ATTEST: 
 
__________________________            

 City Secretary, Kristina Solomon 

 





































ORDER OF ELECTION FOR CITY OF TULIA 

An election is hereby ordered to be held on May 4, 2024 for the purpose of filling the 
elected positions of: 

Mayor 

Council Member Dist. III 

Council Member Dist. IV 

Early voting by personal appearance will be conducted each weekday in the basement of 
the Swisher County Courthouse. Early voting hours are from 8:00 am to 5:00 pm beginning 
April 22, 2024 until April 30, 2024. 

Applications for ballot by mail shall be mailed to: 

Richelle Culifer 
119 S. Maxwell Ave 
Tulia, TX 79088 

All applications for ballots by mail must be received no later than April 23, 2024 at 5:00 
pm. 

Issued this date the 13th of February, 2024. 

________________________________________ __________________________________________ 
Mayor  Signature of Councilperson 

________________________________________ __________________________________________ 
Signature of Councilperson  Signature of Councilperson 

________________________________________ 
Signature of Councilperson  



ORDEN DE ELECCIÓN PARA CIUDAD DE TULIA 

 

Una elección se ordenó que se celebrará el 4 de mayo de 2024 con el fin de llenar los 
puestos elegidos de: 

    Alcalde 

Consejo de Miembros Dist. III   

Consejo de Miembros Dist. IV 

 

Votación anticipada por la apariencia personal se realizará cada día en el sótano de Swisher 
County Courthouse. De las 8:00 am hasta las 5:00 p.m., horario de votación temprana 
empiezan el 22 de abril de 2024 hasta el 30 de abril de 2024. Las solicitudes de voto por 
correo deberán enviarse a: 

    Richelle Culifer 
    119 S. Maxwell Ave 
    Tulia, TX 79088 
 
Todas las solicitudes de boletos por correo deben ser recibidas no más tarde del 23 de abril 
de 2024 a las 5:00 pm. 
 
 
Emitió esta fecha el 13 de febrero de 2024. 
 
 
________________________________________   __________________________________________ 
 Mayor       Signature of Councilperson 
 

________________________________________   __________________________________________ 
Signature of Councilperson    Signature of Councilperson 
 

________________________________________   __________________________________________ 
Signature of Councilperson    Signature of Councilperson 
 



 
City of Tulia and Tulia Independent School District 

Memorandum of Understanding for Law Enforcement Services 
 

                                                                                             Page 1 of 9 
 

THE STATE OF TEXAS   § 
§ Memorandum of Understanding For  

      § Law Enforcement Services 
      § by and between the City of Tulia, 

§ and the Tulia Independent School 
§ District. 

COUNTY OF SWISHER   § 
  
 
 This Memorandum of Understanding (“MOU”) is entered into on this 16th day of 
February, 2024, by and among the CITY OF TULIA, in the State of Texas, (hereinafter referred 
to as “CITY”) and the TULIA INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT, an independent school 
district located at Swisher County, Texas (hereinafter referred to as “SCHOOL DISTRICT”) 
(collectively referred to as the “Part(ies).” 
WITNESSETH: 
 
 WHEREAS, the SCHOOL DISTRICT is an independent school district maintaining and 
operating facilities within the CITY, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the SCHOOL DISTRICT has commissioned peace officers for security and 
law enforcement purposes; and  
 

WHEREAS, the Texas Education Code, Section 37.081, requires that the jurisdiction of a 
peace officer employed by a school district shall be determined by the board of trustees and may 
include all territory in the boundaries of the school district and all property outside the 
boundaries of the district that is owned, leased, or rented by or otherwise under the control of the 
school district, and  

 
 WHEREAS, Texas Education Code, Section 37.081, requires that school district police 
departments and the law enforcement agencies with which it has overlapping jurisdiction shall 
enter into a memorandum of understanding that outlines reasonable communication and 
coordination efforts between the department and the agencies, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the CITY and the SCHOOL DISTRICT each find that this undertaking is 
necessary for the benefit of the public and that each party has legal authority to provide the 
governmental functions, which are the subject matter of this MOU, and 
 
 WHEREAS, the CITY and the SCHOOL DISTRICT desire to improve the efficiency and 
effectiveness of their police departments by cooperating in the provision and performance of law 
enforcement services pursuant to Chapter 791 of the Texas Government Code; and 
 



 
City of Tulia and Tulia Independent School District 

Memorandum of Understanding for Law Enforcement Services 
 

                                                                                             Page 2 of 9 
 

 WHEREAS, the CITY and the SCHOOL DISTRICT desire to specify the terms and 
conditions of an agreement through which this mutually beneficial relationship may be affected; 
and 
 
 WHEREAS, the CITY and the SCHOOL DISTRICT recognize and understand that the 
circumstances of an incident may necessitate that the requirements of this MOU be amended or 
revised to allow the law enforcement officers of each party to better address the unique demands 
of a specific situation and provide appropriate mutual aid and support to each other, under the 
circumstances; and 
 
 NOW THEREFORE IN CONSIDERATION of the mutual undertaking hereinafter set 
forth and for adequate consideration given, the above-named governmental entities agree as 
follows: 
 
I. Definitions 

 The following terms shall have the following meanings when used in this MOU: 
 

(a) “Peace officer” means a person elected, employed, or appointed as a peace 
officer under Article 2.12, Code of Criminal Procedure, or other law, and 
licensed by the Texas Commission on Law Enforcement officer Standards and 
Education; 
 

(b) “Party” means a governmental entity which is a party to this MOU; 
 

(c) “Chief law enforcement officer” means the chief of police of a municipality 
and the chief of police of an independent school district; 
 

(d) “Chief administrative officer” means the mayor or superintendent of an 
independent school district; 

 
(e) “Requesting governmental entity” or “requesting party” shall mean and refer 

to the contracting governmental entity that requests another party to this MOU 
for law enforcement services in aid and assistance in responding to an 
emergency condition within the boundaries of the requesting party. 

 
(f) “Responding governmental entity” or “responding party” shall mean and refer 

to the governmental entity that answers or responds to request of another party 
to this MOU for law enforcement services in aid and assistance in responding 
to an emergency condition within the boundaries of the requesting party. 

 



 
City of Tulia and Tulia Independent School District 

Memorandum of Understanding for Law Enforcement Services 
 

                                                                                             Page 3 of 9 
 

II. Purpose 

 The purpose of this MOU is to assist in providing additional law enforcement officers 
and equipment necessary to protect health, life, and property against violations of criminal law 
and breaches of the peace. The Parties recognize and acknowledge that mutual cooperation and 
communication are in the best interest of their constituents, employees and the public, and the 
Parties therefore pledge to meet on a periodic basis to discuss the purpose of this MOU and to 
develop practices and procedures in keeping with this purpose. 
 
III. Primary Jurisdiction and Concurrent Jurisdiction 

A. the CITY shall retain primary jurisdiction over property owned by the CITY, and 
over property located within the CITY’s corporate limits and not owned by any 
other Party.  

 
B. the SCHOOL DISTRICT shall retain primary jurisdiction, over property owned 

by the SCHOOL DISTRICT and located within the CITY. 
 

IV. Requests for Assistance and Response 

 A responding party may assign its law enforcement officers to perform law enforcement 
duties outside the responding party’s territorial limits, subject to the responding party’s 
determination of availability of personnel and at the responding party’s sole discretion as to 
participation, when:  
 

A. requested by the chief law enforcement officer, or his designee, of a requesting 
party; and 

 
B. the chief law enforcement officer, or his designee, of the responding party has 

determined, in his sole discretion, that the assignment is necessary to the 
providing of law enforcement services within the territorial limits of the 
requesting party for the purposes set forth at paragraph II above. 

 
 The CITY reserves the right to retain the primary authority for its specialized police 
units, dispatched in response to incidents within the corporate limits of the CITY such as a 
missing child, sexual assault, kidnapping, armed barricaded subject, active shooter or sniper, riot, 
an incident involving fatalities or any other incident within the CITY limits for which the CITY 
believes the use of its specialized police services is reasonable and necessary. 
 
 The ranking on-duty peace officer of each party present at the response location shall be 
deemed the authorizing official for that party. 
 
 Any request for aid under this MOU shall include a statement of the amount and type of 
equipment and number of personnel requested, and shall specify the location to which the 
equipment and personnel are to be dispatched, but the amount and type of equipment and number 



 
City of Tulia and Tulia Independent School District 

Memorandum of Understanding for Law Enforcement Services 
 

                                                                                             Page 4 of 9 
 

of personnel to be furnished shall be finally determined by the responding party’s chief law 
enforcement officer or his designee. Requests for aid shall be directed to the attention of the 
following named persons or officers of each respective party, or to such other persons or officers 
as a party may hereinafter designate: 
 
 A. City of Tulia: Paul Brown 
 
 B. Tulia Independent School District: Chris Tristan 
 
 Law enforcement personnel of the responding party will be released by the requesting 
party when their services are no longer required as determined by the chief law enforcement 
officer, or his designee, of the requesting party. The chief law enforcement officer of the 
responding party, or his designee, in collaboration with the requesting party’s chief law 
enforcement officer, may withdraw his personnel or equipment or discontinue participation in 
any activity initiated pursuant to this MOU, at any time. Such withdrawal should be made in 
such a way that it does not pose a threat to the safety or security of the location and/or situation. 
 
V. Status of Responding Peace Officers and Command Authority  
 
 While any law enforcement officer regularly employed as such by a responding party is 
in the service of any requesting party, he shall at all times remain a peace officer of the 
responding party and shall be under the command of the responding  party’s chief law 
enforcement officer.   
 
VI. Service of Arrest and Search Warrants 
 
 Whenever possible, a peace officer of a municipality should notify the police department 
of a school district before serving any arrest or search warrant on the property of a school 
district. A peace officer of a school district may accompany a peace officer of a municipality 
when the municipal peace officer is serving an arrest or search warrant on the property of a 
school district.  
 
VII. Responsibility for Completing Investigation 
 
 The completion of any investigation upon termination of a response to request, or upon 
withdrawal from an initiated response, will remain under the jurisdiction and authority of the 
party having primary jurisdiction, unless otherwise agreed to by the parties. 
 



 
City of Tulia and Tulia Independent School District 

Memorandum of Understanding for Law Enforcement Services 
 

                                                                                             Page 5 of 9 
 

VIII. Dispatching Calls Between Police Departments 
 
 The dispatcher of a party receiving or dispatching a call relating to the provision made for 
law enforcement services by this MOU will: 
 

A. Maintain a record of calls received, routed and dispatched to any other party to 
this MOU, which record shall be available to all parties upon request; 

 
B. When referring an emergency caller to a party under this MOU, the dispatcher 

should advise the caller that the referral is being made and should remain on the 
line with the caller until a connection is made with the party referred to; and 

 
C. When dispatching a unit to another party’s primary jurisdiction, the dispatcher 

should attempt to notify the dispatcher of the department for the other party as 
soon as possible. 

 
IX. No Waiver of Reimbursement for Services 
 
 No party to this MOU waives the right granted by Section 362.003(c), Texas Local 
Government Code, to request reimbursement for services performed under this MOU. The 
governmental entity whose authorized official requested the services shall reimburse the 
governmental entity providing such services upon request, unless the responding entity had 
jurisdiction to perform the law enforcement services notwithstanding this MOU. 
 
X. Employee Compensation Unaffected 
 
 Any law enforcement officer or other person who is assigned, designated, or ordered by 
the chief law enforcement officer of the party which regularly employs him, or his designee, to 
perform police or peace officer duties pursuant to this MOU, shall receive the same wage, salary, 
pension, and all other compensation and all other rights for such service, including injury or 
death benefits, and workers’ compensation benefits, the same as though the service had been 
rendered within the limits of the party where he is regularly employed. Moreover, all wages and 
disability payments, including equipments and clothing, medical expenses, expenses of travel, 
food, and lodging, shall be paid by the party which regularly employs such person in the same 
manner as though the service had been rendered within the limits of the party where the person is 
regularly employed. 
 
XI. Civil Lawsuits and Retention of Benefits Related to Employee Status 
 
 In the event that any person performing law enforcement, law enforcement services 
pursuant to this MOU shall be cited as a party to any civil lawsuit, state or federal, arising out of 
the performance of those services, he shall be entitled to the same benefits that he would be 
entitled to receive if such civil action has arisen out of the performance of his duties as a party of 
the department where he is regularly employed and in the jurisdiction of the party by which he is 



 
City of Tulia and Tulia Independent School District 

Memorandum of Understanding for Law Enforcement Services 
 

                                                                                             Page 6 of 9 
 

regularly employed. Nothing in this MOU is construed as creating any personal liability on the 
part of any employee, officer or agent of any public body that may be a party to this MOU. 
 
XII. Municipal Prosecution 
 
Any and all citations issued by the SCHOOL DISTRICT within the municipal limits of the City 
of Tulia where the municipal court has jurisdiction shall be filed with the municipal court of the 
City of Tulia.   
 
XIII. Non-Waiver of Immunity 
 
 It is expressly understood and agreed that, in the execution of this MOU, no Party waives 
nor shall be deemed hereby to waive any immunity or defense that would otherwise be available 
to it against claims made by third parties and arising directly or indirectly out of the performance 
of this MOU. THE PARTIES RETAIN ALL GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES. 
 
XIV. Duration of MOU 
 
 This MOU shall be effective for a period beginning on the date first written above and 
ending on December 31, 2024, and shall thereafter automatically renew for one year terms 
running from January 1 until December 31 of each year unless terminated in accordance with the 
terms and conditions of this MOU. 
 
XV. Termination 
 
 Any party to this MOU may terminate it, by giving the other parties thirty (30) days prior 
written notice of its intent to terminate the MOU, mailed by certified mail and addressed to the 
person or officer of each other party to this MOU designated herein for notice.  
 
XVI. Performance of Services 
 
 Law enforcement services, and all other services reasonably related thereto, which are 
provided under this MOU shall be performed in accordance with the standard operating 
procedures, rules, regulations, and ordinances of the department by which each such peace 
officer or employee providing such services is employed, and in conformity with the 
requirements and mandates of laws of the State of Texas and the United States. 
 
XVII. Release and Indemnification 
 
 To the extent permitted by law each Party to this MOU expressly waives all claims 
against every other Party to this MOU for compensation for any loss, damage, personal 
injury, or death occurring as a consequence of the performance of this MOU, and shall, to 
the extent permitted by law, indemnify each other Party for any liability arising out of the 
acts or omissions of its own employees and officers.  



 
City of Tulia and Tulia Independent School District 

Memorandum of Understanding for Law Enforcement Services 
 

                                                                                             Page 7 of 9 
 

XVIII. Waiver of Subrogation 
 
 The Parties hereby release each other, and their respective officers, agents, and 
employees, from any and all liability to each other or anyone claiming through or under them by 
way of subrogation or otherwise for any loss, injury or damage caused by or resulting from risks 
insured against under any insurance policy maintained by the Parties. 
 
XIX. Remedies 
 
 No right or remedy granted herein or reserved to the Parties is exclusive of any other 
right or remedy herein by law or equity provided or permitted; but each shall be cumulative of 
every other right or remedy given hereunder. No covenant or condition of this MOU may be 
waived without first obtaining consent of the Parties in writing. Forbearance or indulgence by 
either Party shall not constitute a waiver of any covenant or condition to be performed pursuant 
to this MOU. 
 
XX. Severability 
 
 If any of the terms, sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, phrases, provisions, 
covenants, conditions or any other part of this MOU, are for any reason held to be invalid, void 
or unenforceable, the remainder of the terms, sections, subsections, sentences, clauses, phrases, 
provisions, covenants, conditions or any other part of this MOU shall remain in full force and 
effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated.  
 
XXI. Applicable Law 
 
 This MOU is entered into subject to and is to be construed, governed and enforced under 
all applicable State of Texas and federal law.  
 
XXII. Venue 
 
 The Parties to this MOU agree and covenant that this MOU will be enforceable in 
Swisher County, Texas; and that if legal action is necessary to enforce this MOU exclusive 
venue will lay in Swisher County, Texas. 
 
XXIII. Notice 
 
 Notice by any party to any other party hereto shall be in writing and shall be deemed to 
have been duly given only if delivered personally or sent by registered or certified mail, with 
proper postage attached addressed to the respective party as follows subject to change as the 
respective party may hereafter give notice to the other parties: 
 



 
City of Tulia and Tulia Independent School District 

Memorandum of Understanding for Law Enforcement Services 
 

                                                                                             Page 8 of 9 
 

For the CITY: 
City Manager,  
City of Tulia 
P.O. Box 847 
Tulia, Texas 79088-0847 
  
For the SCHOOL DISTRICT: 
Dr. Ricardo Garcia,  
Tulia Independent School District Superintendent  
300 North Dallas Ave. 
Tulia, Texas 79088 

 
XXIV. Public Information 

 
This MOU is public information. To the extent, if any, that any provision of this MOU is 

in conflict with Tex. Gov’t. Code Ann. Chapter 552 et seq., as amended (the “Texas Public 
Information Act”) the same shall be of no force and effect. Each party agrees that it will notify 
the other party of any public information request which seeks disclosure of “law enforcement 
tactical information” and will assert a lawful objection or privilege to keep such information 
confidential.  
 
XXV. No Joint Enterprise 
 

This MOU does not, is not intended to, and shall not be construed to, create any joint 
enterprise between or among the parties.  
 
XXVI. Entire Understanding 
 
 This MOU embodies the complete understanding of the parties hereto superseding all 
oral or written previous and contemporaneous agreements or understandings between the parties 
relating to matters herein; and, except as otherwise provided herein, must be modified in writing 
by the parties, unless the circumstances of a particular situation make such a written amendment 
impracticable, in which case, the ranking on-duty peace officer of each party present at the 
response location is authorized to deviate from this MOU as that officer, in his sole discretion, 
deems necessary and advisable. 
 
XXVII. Authorization 
 
 The undersigned officers and agents are properly authorized to execute this MOU on 
behalf of the parties hereto and each party hereby certifies to the other that any necessary 
resolutions extending such authority have been duly passed and are now in full force and effect. 
 



 
City of Tulia and Tulia Independent School District 

Memorandum of Understanding for Law Enforcement Services 
 

                                                                                             Page 9 of 9 
 

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this MOU as of the date first 
state above. 
 
CITY OF TULIA, Texas  
 
______________________________ 
Dusty George 
Mayor 
 
ATTEST: 
 
______________________________ 
Kristina Solomon, City Secretary 
 
APPROVED AS TO CONTENT:  
 
_________________________________ 
Paul Brown, Chief of Police, City of Tulia Police Department 
 
 
TULIA INDEPENDENT SCHOOL DISTRICT 
 
_________________________________ 
Dr. Ricardo Garcia 
Superintendent  
 
ATTEST:  
 
_________________________________ 
_________________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



ORDINANCE NO. 2024-01            
 
 

ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TULIA, TEXAS, GRANTING TO ATMOS 
ENERGY CORPORATION (A TEXAS AND VIRGINIA CORPORATION, WITH 
ITS PRINCIPAL OFFICE IN THE CITY OF DALLAS, DALLAS COUNTY, 
TEXAS) THE FRANCHISE AND RIGHTS TO CONDUCT IN SUCH CITY THE 
BUSINESS OF ACQUIRING, MAINTAINING, CONSTRUCTING, LAYING, 
REPAIRING, REMOVING, REPLACING, INSTALLING, OPERATING, AND 
DISPOSING OF A GAS SYSTEM FOR THE SALE, TRANSPORTATION, AND 
DISTRIBUTION OF NATURAL GAS WITHIN THE MUNICIPAL BOUNDARIES 
OF THE CITY AND TO THE RESIDENTS AND BUSINESSES LOCATED 
THEREIN FOR LIGHT, HEAT, POWER, AND ANY OTHER PURPOSES AND 
THE RIGHT TO USE THE PRESENT AND FUTURE STREETS, ROADS, 
HIGHWAYS, ALLEYS, PUBLIC WAYS, AND REAL PROPERTY IN SUCH 
CITY AND OWNED OR CONTROLLED BY SUCH CITY FOR SUCH 
PURPOSES; PRESCRIBING THE TERMS AND CONDITIONS TO WHICH 
SUCH FRANCHISE AND RIGHTS ARE SUBJECT; AND PRESCRIBING THE 
TERM OF SUCH FRANCHISE AND RIGHTS. 

 
 

BE IT HEREBY ORDAINED by the CITY of TULIA, TEXAS (hereinafter referred to as 

the “City”) that, subject to the terms and conditions hereinafter set forth, ATMOS ENERGY 

CORPORATION, a Texas and Virginia corporation with its principal office in the City of Dallas, 

Dallas County, Texas (hereinafter referred to as “Atmos”), be, and hereby is, granted the non-

exclusive franchise and rights to conduct in the City the business of acquiring (by purchase, 

lease, or otherwise), maintaining, constructing, laying, repairing, removing, replacing, installing, 

operating, and disposing of (by sale, lease, or otherwise) a gas system, as hereinafter defined, 

for the sale, transportation, and distribution of natural gas within the municipal boundaries of the 

City and to the residents and businesses located therein for light, heat, power, and any other 

purpose during the term set forth below.  Such franchise and rights shall include, but not be 

limited to, the right to use the present and future streets, roads, highways, alleys, public ways, 

and other real property owned by or under the control of the City for purposes of maintaining, 

constructing, laying, repairing, removing, replacing, installing, and operating any and all 

components of the gas system, together with access, at all times and from time to time, to such 

streets, roads, highways, alleys, public ways, and other real property during the term hereof. 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 2 

ARTICLE I 

DEFINITIONS 

For purposes of this Ordinance, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth 

below: 

Section 1.1. Gas System.   The term “gas system” shall mean any and all pipelines, as 

hereinafter defined, meters, valves, compressors, anti-corrosion items, facilities, structures, 

machinery, equipment, and appurtenances of any kind that Atmos, in its sole discretion, may 

deem necessary or advisable for the exercise of the franchise and rights granted to Atmos 

herein. 

Section 1.2. Pipelines.   The term “pipelines” shall mean any and all above-ground and 

below-ground pipes, including, but not limited to, mains, distribution lines, secondary lines, 

laterals, and other pipes, that have been, are being, or are intended to be used at any time in, or 

in connection with, the sale, transportation, or distribution of natural gas within the City. 

 

ARTICLE II 

TERM 

Section 2.1. Term.  Unless earlier terminated in accordance with the terms and 

provisions hereof, the term of the franchise and rights hereby granted to Atmos shall be for a 

period of five (5) years, commencing on the effective date hereof as defined in Section 7.6 

below. 

 

ARTICLE III 

ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND GRANT 

OF SPECIFIC RIGHTS OF ATMOS 

In addition to the franchise and rights granted herein to Atmos, the City acknowledges 

that Atmos has, and hereby grants to Atmos, the following rights and powers: 

Section 3.1. Right to Contract.   Atmos may enter into separate gas service contracts 

with industrial or other consumers in the City whose average consumption of gas generally is 

substantially in excess of the average consumption by residential or commercial consumers or 

whose service requirements generally are substantially different from the average service 

requirements of residential or commercial consumers.  Such contracts may provide for rates 

different from the rates applicable to such residential and commercial consumers. 



 
 3 

Section 3.2. Discontinuance of Service.  Atmos may discontinue service to any 

residential or commercial consumer for any lawful reason, including, but not limited to, such 

consumer's failure to pay, when due, any indebtedness owed by such consumer to Atmos. 

Section 3.3. Reconnection Charges.   In addition to any and all other proper charges, 

Atmos may charge and collect from any residential or commercial consumer whose service has 

been discontinued by Atmos a reasonable reconnection or similar charge for recommencing 

service to such consumer. 

Section 3.4. Adoption of Rules.   From time to time during the term hereof, Atmos 

may, subject to any and all valid and applicable statutes, ordinances, rules, and regulations of 

any federal or state governmental authority or agency, make and enforce reasonable rules 

pertaining to Atmos' business and operations, including, but not limited to, requiring any 

residential or commercial consumer to execute and deliver a written contract or amendment to 

an existing written contract prior, and as a condition, to the initial commencement, 

recommencement, or continuation of service to such consumer. 

Section 3.5. Removal of Gas System.   Atmos may remove all or any portion of the 

gas system upon the termination by the City, pursuant to Article VI of this Ordinance, of the 

franchise and rights granted hereby. 

Section 3.6. Consumer Preferences.  Atmos may give preference to residential 

consumers over other consumers during periods in which the total volume of gas available for 

distribution to and within the City is insufficient, for any reason whatsoever, to adequately supply 

all residential and commercial consumers. 

 

ARTICLE IV 

OBLIGATIONS OF ATMOS 

Section 4.1. Franchise Fee. 

(a) As consideration for the grant of the franchise and rights herein and for the use 

by Atmos of the streets, roads, highways, alleys, public ways, and other real property owned or 

controlled by the City, Atmos shall pay to the City, within thirty (30) days after the end of each 

calendar quarter, a franchise fee equal to five percent (5%) of Atmos' gross receipts derived 

from the sale, transportation, and distribution by Atmos of natural gas within the City limits 

during the preceding calendar quarter.  Additionally, Atmos shall pay to the City, within thirty 

(30) days after the end of each calendar quarter, a franchise fee equal to five percent (5%) of 

the value of gas transported by Atmos Energy for transport customers through the Gas System 

of Atmos to a delivery point within the City (excluding the value of any gas transported to 



 
 4 

another gas utility in City for resale to its customers within City), with the value of such gas to be 

established by utilizing Atmos’ monthly Weighted Average Cost of Gas charged to industrial 

customers in the West Texas division, as reasonably near the time as the transportation service 

is performed.  At any time during the term of this franchise, the City may increase the franchise 

fee payable hereunder, subject to and in accordance with all of the following terms and 

conditions: 

(1) The City may increase the franchise fee only if the franchise fee, as so 
increased, constitutes a charge for Atmos' use of the City's streets, roads, 
highways, alleys, public ways, and other real property that is reasonable 
and lawful.  Such increase must be adopted by the governing body of the 
City at a public hearing that is held no earlier than thirty (30) days 
following the delivery to Atmos by the City, in person or by certified or 
registered mail, of a written notice stating the reason for, and the date, 
time, and place of, such hearing.  

 
(2) The franchise fee may not be increased pursuant to this Subsection 

4.1(a) more than one time in any five-year period during the term of this 
franchise. 

 
(3) The franchise fee may not be increased at any one time by an amount 

exceeding one-half of one percent (1/2 of 1%) of Atmos' gross receipts 
derived from the sale, transportation, and distribution by Atmos of natural 
gas within the municipal boundaries of the City; and the total franchise fee 
payable hereunder may not be increased during the term hereof to an 
amount exceeding the lesser of (i) five percent (5%) of such gross 
receipts or (ii) the percentage of gross receipts payable by any electric 
utility doing business within the City pursuant to a franchise granted by 
the City. 

 
(4) In the event the franchise fee provided herein exceeds that franchise fee 

amount that is recovered by Atmos as part of its base rates for natural 
gas service charged to its customers within the City, or if the franchise fee 
is increased in accordance with this Subsection 4.1(a), the City agrees 
that Atmos may immediately add a line-item surcharge to the monthly bills 
of Atmos' customers located within the City in an amount sufficient to 
recover such excess or increase. 

 
(b) Nothing in Subsection 4.1(a) shall preclude, or be deemed to preclude, Atmos 

and the City from agreeing to an increase in the franchise fee in excess of the limitations 

imposed in such subsection. 

(c) The franchise fee, together with any and all charges of the City for water, 

sewage, and garbage services provided by the City to Atmos, any and all sales taxes collected 

by Atmos, and any and all ad valorem taxes assessed by the City against Atmos' property, shall 

constitute the only amounts for which Atmos shall be obligated to pay to the City and shall be in 



 
 5 

lieu of any and all other costs, levies, assessments, fees, or other amounts, of any kind 

whatsoever, that the City, currently or in the future, may charge Atmos or assess against Atmos' 

property. 
Section 4.2. No Obstruction of Public Property.   Atmos shall not, unnecessarily or for 

any unreasonable period of time, obstruct or interfere with the public use of any of the streets, 

roads, highways, alleys, public ways, or other real property owned or controlled by the City. 

Section 4.3. Repair of Damages.   Atmos shall repair any and all damages caused 

solely by Atmos to any streets, roads, highways, alleys, public ways, or other real property 

owned or controlled by the City and shall restore, as nearly as practicable, such property to 

substantially its condition immediately prior to the incident causing such damage.  The City may, 

from time to time, adopt reasonable ordinances regulating such work. 

Section 4.4. Conduct of Work and Activities.  Atmos shall use reasonable care in 

conducting its work and activities in order to prevent injury to any person and unnecessary 

damage to any real or personal property and shall hold and save harmless the City from all 

damages, losses, or expense caused by the negligence of Atmos, its agents or employees, 

while exercising any of the rights herein granted. 

Section 4.5. Use of Alleys.   Atmos shall attempt to utilize the alleys of the City insofar 

as is reasonably practicable in conducting its work and activities hereunder.  Notwithstanding 

the foregoing, however, Atmos may, when reasonably necessary, utilize the streets and any 

other public ways owned or controlled by the City to perform such work and activities. 

Section 4.6. Service and Supply.   Atmos shall use reasonable care to furnish good 

and reliable service and an adequate supply of natural gas. 

Section 4.7. Installation of Underground Pipelines.   Atmos shall, when reasonably 

practicable, install all pipelines under-ground at such depth and in such manner so as not to 

interfere with the existing pavement, curbs, gutters, or underground wires, cables, or water or 

sewer pipes owned or controlled by the City. 

Section 4.8. No Discrimination Between Consumers.   Subject to Atmos' rights set 

forth in Article III of this Ordinance, Atmos shall not discriminate against any consumer with 

respect to charges for natural gas or services rendered under substantially the same circum-

stances to other consumers of the same classification. 

Section 4.9. Changes in Gas System. 

(a) Atmos shall, upon written request from the City, change the location, position, 

route, or depth of any pipeline or other component of the gas system if and when such change 

becomes reasonably necessary because of a change in the grade of any street, road, highway, 



 
 6 

alley, public way, or other real property owned or controlled by the City or because of any 

change in the location of, or in the manner of maintaining, constructing, laying, repairing, 

removing, replacing, installing, or operating any pavement, curbs, gutters, or underground wires, 

cables, or water or sewer pipes owned or controlled by the City.  The City's written request for 

such change must set forth, in detail, all of the essential elements and specifications of the 

requested change. 

(b) Atmos may seek payment from any governmental entity or agency, person, or 

party of any amount to which Atmos may be entitled because of such change in location, 

position, route, or depth or because of the abandonment of any pipeline or other component of 

the gas system regardless of whether such pipeline or component is wholly or partially located 

in any public or private way or right-of-way. 

Section 4.10. Service to New Areas.  If during the term of this franchise the boundaries 

of the City are expanded, the City will promptly notify Atmos in writing of any geographic areas 

annexed by the City during the term hereof (“Annexation Notice”).  Any such Annexation Notice 

shall be sent to Atmos by certified mail, return receipt requested, and shall contain the effective 

date of the annexation, maps showing the annexed area and such other information as Atmos 

may reasonably require in ascertaining whether there exist any customers of Atmos receiving 

natural gas service in said annexed area.  To the extent there are such Atmos customers 

therein, then the gross revenues of Atmos derived from the sale and distribution of natural gas 

to such customers shall become subject to the franchise fee provisions hereof effective on the 

first day of Atmos’ billing cycle immediately following Atmos’ receipt of the Annexation Notice.  

The failure by the City to advise Atmos in writing through proper Annexation Notice of any 

geographic areas which are annexed by the City shall relieve Atmos from any obligation to remit 

any franchise fees to City based upon gross revenues derived by Atmos from the sale and 

distribution of natural gas to customers within the annexed area until City delivers an 

Annexation Notice to Atmos in accordance with the terms hereof. 

Section 4.11. Schedule of Rates.   Atmos shall, at all times, keep on file with the City a 

schedule setting forth current residential and commercial rates for natural gas and services 

rendered to customers within the City.  Nothing contained in this Ordinance, however, shall 

adversely affect Atmos' right to apply for an increase in all or any of its rates at any time and 

from time to time during the term hereof and to a lawful and equitable decision with respect to 

any such application. 



 
 7 

Section 4.12. Rebates.   Atmos shall not grant, directly or indirectly, any rebate, in the 

form of money or any other thing of value, to any consumer in order to circumvent the rate 

schedule filed with the City pursuant to Section 4.10 of this Article IV. 

Section 4.13. Maps of Gas System.   Atmos shall have available a map or maps 

showing the current location of all pipelines and other components of Atmos' natural gas 

distribution facilities located in the City. 

Section 4.14. Bond for Removal of Gas System.   Atmos shall, upon electing to remove 

all or any portion of the gas system in accordance with Section 3.5 of Article III of this 

Ordinance, file with the Secretary of the City a bond in a reasonable amount and with a proper 

and adequate surety, securing Atmos' obligation to promptly repair, at Atmos' sole expense, any 

damage to any real property owned or controlled by the City caused by Atmos' removal of all or 

any portion of the gas system and to restore such property to substantially the same condition it 

was in immediately prior to the incident causing such damage. 

Section 4.15.  Installation of Lines and Meters to Consumers. Atmos shall, at its sole 

expense, lay a pipeline of adequate size to or near the property line of each consumer and shall 

install a meter at an appropriate place in order to measure the consumption of gas by such 

consumer, provided, however, that Atmos shall not be required, and has no obligation 

hereunder, to lay or extend any pipeline a distance of more than seventy-five feet (75’) per 

customer for the purpose of furnishing natural gas. 

 

ARTICLE V 

RIGHTS OF THE CITY 

Section 5.1. Use of City Property.   The right of Atmos hereunder to use any streets, 

roads, highways, alleys, public ways, and other real property owned or controlled by the City 

shall in no way affect the right of the City or its agents to maintain, construct, lay, repair, 

remove, replace, install, or operate any pavement, curbs, gutters, or underground wires, cables, 

or water or sewer pipes owned by the City and located on or near such streets, roads, 

highways, alleys, public ways, and other real property. 

Section 5.2. Inspection of Books and Records.   The City may, at its sole expense 

and, upon reasonable prior notice, at any reasonable time during normal business hours, 

inspect and copy any of Atmos' books and records, wherever located, pertaining to and directly 

affecting the rights of the City arising under or by virtue of this Ordinance. 

 

ARTICLE VI 



 
 8 

REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT BY ATMOS 

Section 6.1. Termination of Franchise and Rights.   In the event of a substantial 

breach by Atmos of any material provision of this Ordinance, the City may terminate the 

franchise and rights granted to Atmos hereunder, provided, however, that such termination shall 

not be effective unless and until the procedures described below have been followed: 

(a) The City must deliver to Atmos, by certified or registered mail, a written notice 

signed by the Mayor, attested by the Secretary, and sealed with the official seal of the City.  

Such notice must (i) fairly and fully set forth in detail each of the alleged acts or omissions of 

Atmos that the City contends constitutes a substantial breach of any material provision hereof, 

(ii) designate which of the terms and conditions hereof the City contends Atmos breached, and 

(iii) specify the date, time, and place at which a public hearing will be held by the governing 

body of the City for the purpose of determining whether the allegations contained in the notice 

did in fact occur, provided, however, that the date of such hearing may not be less than thirty 

(30) days after the date of such notice. 

(b) Within ten (10) days following the adjournment of the public hearing described in 

Subsection 6.1(a) above, the City must deliver to Atmos, by certified or registered mail, a written 

notice signed by the Mayor, attested by the Secretary, and sealed with the official seal of the 

City, setting forth (i) the acts and omissions of Atmos described in the first notice that the 

governing body of the City determines to have in fact occurred and (ii) the specific terms and 

conditions of this Ordinance listed in the first notice that the governing body of the City 

determines to have in fact been breached by such acts or omissions of Atmos. 

(c) The City must permit Atmos the opportunity to substantially correct all of the 

breaches hereof set forth in the written notice described in Subsection 6.1(b) above within sixty 

(60) days after Atmos' receipt of such notice. 

  

 

ARTICLE VII 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 

Section 7.1. Force Majeure.   Notwithstanding anything expressly or impliedly to the 

contrary contained herein, in the event Atmos is prevented, wholly or partially, from complying 

with any obligation or undertaking contained herein by reason of any event of force majeure, 

then, while so prevented, compliance with such obligations or undertakings shall be suspended, 

and the time during which Atmos is so prevented shall not be counted against Atmos for any 

reason.  The term “force majeure”, as used herein, shall mean any cause not reasonably within 



 
 9 

Atmos' control and includes, but is not limited to, acts of God, strikes, lock-outs, wars, terrorism, 

riots, orders or decrees of any lawfully constituted federal, state, or local body, contagions or 

contaminations hazardous to human life or health, fires, storms, floods, wash-outs, explosions, 

breakages or accidents to machinery or lines of pipe, inability to obtain or the delay in obtaining 

rights-of-way, materials, supplies, or labor permits, temporary failures of gas supply, or 

necessary repair, maintenance, or replacement of facilities used in the performance of the 

obligations contained in this Ordinance. 

Section 7.2. Other Ordinances.   Except to the extent otherwise expressly provided 

herein, the franchise and rights granted hereby and the operations and activities performed by 

Atmos pursuant hereto shall be subject to all valid ordinances and regulations of the City and 

any valid amendments thereto insofar as, and only insofar as, such ordinances and regulations 

(i) do not shorten the term hereof or terminate, abrogate, or materially and adversely affect the 

franchise and rights granted to Atmos hereby or (ii) do not conflict with or are not inconsistent 

with the terms and provisions contained in this Ordinance, such conflicting or inconsistent 

ordinances hereby being repealed to the extent of such conflict or inconsistency. 

Section 7.3. Amendments.  This Ordinance and the franchise and rights granted 

herein may be amended only by written agreement of the City and Atmos to such amendment. 

Section 7.4. Severability.  In the event any part of this Ordinance is determined to be 

invalid or illegal for any reason whatsoever, such invalidity or illegality shall not affect the validity 

or legality of this Ordinance as a whole or of any part hereof. 

Section 7.5. Binding Effect.  This Ordinance shall extend to, be binding upon, and 

inure to the benefit of, the parties hereto and their respective successors and assigns. 

Section 7.6. Effective Date.  This Ordinance shall become effective on the date on 

which this Ordinance is finally adopted by the City in accordance with law, and Atmos shall file 

with the Secretary of the City a letter stating that Atmos accepts this Ordinance as adopted and 

agrees to comply with and be bound by all of the terms and conditions hereof.  A true and 

correct copy of this Ordinance as finally adopted shall be attached to such letter and by 

reference made a part thereof, and the letter shall be addressed to the Mayor and the governing 

body of the City, dated, and executed by an authorized officer of Atmos.  Upon this Ordinance 

becoming effective, this Ordinance shall supersede any and all prior ordinances of the City, 

including but not limited to Ordinance No. 2017-09, regarding the subject matter of this 

Ordinance. 



 
 10 

Section 7.7. Section and Other Headings.   The section and other headings contained 

in this Ordinance are for reference purposes only and shall not affect in any way the meaning or 

interpretation of this Ordinance. 



 
 11 

 

 Read and passed by the City Council of the City of  Tulia, Texas with a quorum of such 
Councilmen duly and lawfully assembled and voting, on the first (1st) reading, on the _13th __ 
day of __February___, 2024. 
 
 
ATTEST:      CITY OF TULIA, TEXAS 
  
 
_________________________________  By: ________________________________ 
Kristina Solomon, City Secretary         Dusty George, Mayor 

 
 
 
Read and passed by the City Council of the City of Tulia, Texas with a quorum of such 

Councilmen duly and lawfully assembled and voting, on the second (2nd) and final reading, on 
the _12th_ day of ___March______, 2024. 
 
 
ATTEST:      CITY OF TULIA, TEXAS 
 
 
________________________________  By: ________________________________ 
Kristina Solomon, City Secretary         Dusty George, Mayor 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
City’s Mailing Address and Phone Number: 
 
127 SW 2nd Street 
 
Tulia, Texas 79088 
 
806-995-3547 
 
 


	2 February agenda 2-13-24
	11-14-23 council minutes
	11-27-23 special meeting
	2023 Racial Profiling-Annual Report
	1b ORDEN DE ELECCIÓN PARA CIUDAD DE TULIA
	1b ORDER OF ELECTION FOR CITY OF TULIA
	ADPC394.tmp
	DEFINITIONS
	OBLIGATIONS OF ATMOS
	RIGHTS OF THE CITY
	REMEDIES UPON DEFAULT BY ATMOS
	GENERAL PROVISIONS





